University of Arkansas, Fayetteville ScholarWorks@UARK

Graduate Theses and Dissertations

12-2021

# Additive Manufacturing of Soil Using Bio-Cementation

Christina Childress University of Arkansas, Fayetteville

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uark.edu/etd

Part of the Civil Engineering Commons, Geotechnical Engineering Commons, and the Structural Engineering Commons

#### Citation

Childress, C. (2021). Additive Manufacturing of Soil Using Bio-Cementation. *Graduate Theses and Dissertations* Retrieved from https://scholarworks.uark.edu/etd/4342

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by ScholarWorks@UARK. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UARK. For more information, please contact scholar@uark.edu, uarepos@uark.edu.

Additive Manufacturing of Soil using Bio-Cementation

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Civil Engineering

by

Christina Joy Childress University of Arkansas Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering, 2020

> December 2021 University of Arkansas

This thesis is approved for recommendation to the Graduate Council.

Michelle Lee Barry, Ph.D Thesis Director

Richard Coffman, Ph.D Committee Member Wen Zhang, Ph.D Committee Member

#### ABSTRACT

Microbially Induced Calcite Precipitation (MICP) is an emerging soil treatment technique that is proven to increase strength, decrease erosion, reduce liquefaction risk, enhance slope stability, decrease compressibility, decrease swelling potential, and overall create a more competent soil. The benefits and applications of MICP are broad, and this research seeks to broaden them further by developing a single-phase additive manufacturing application with no treatment time delay. This is done by analyzing layering behaviors of five USCS soil classifications (100 % Ottawa sand, sand clay mixtures, and 100% lean clay) which provides insight into process variables such as the solution volume and layer thicknesses for the additive manufactured specimens. Cuboidal specimens were produced using a layering approach where both bacterial and cementation solutions were applied on the surface of every layer using a volume-controlled spray system. The cuboidal specimens were tested in unconfined compression and the results indicated a notable increase in soil strength for clay soils using this treatment method. This application method evades some complexities commonly faced with fine-grained soils. In addition, the potential of utilizing gel spray solutions for higher levels of control when applying solutions in a defined pattern to create mechanically advantageous shapes were considered. The addition of gel to the treatment solutions reduced bleed and allowed for more control. Both potentials show promise but require more examination. All application specifics are highly variant depending on soil type and would need to be calibrated for site-specific projects.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to offer my most sincere thanks to all of those who made this research possible. First to my advisor, Dr. Michelle Lee Barry, who has provided me with countless opportunities and has been a constant guide and inspiration during my time at the University of Arkansas. Her passion was contagious, and her expertise was crucially valuable. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Richard Coffman and Dr. When Zhang, for investing their time and insight. Additional thanks to Dr. Wen Zhang for allowing me the use of her lab, and to her student, Michelle Lo, for assistance in learning new operations. For guidance in cultivating bacteria and understanding bio-cementation, and for graciously offering me his time, I would like to thank Dr. Charalampos Konstantinou, formerly of Cambridge University. Furthermore, I would like to thank Dr. Brina Montoya of NC State University and Dr. Giovanna Biscontin of Cambridge University for offering guidance and allowing me to ask questions. Thanks also to the professors in the department of Civil Engineering at the University of Arkansas for investing in me over the years. Thanks to my family and friends for their unconditional love and support. Finally, I would like to thank the National Science Foundation for the funding of this research.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Objective1
1.2 Overview1
2. LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Microbially Induced Calcium Carbonate Precipitate (MICP)2
2.1.1 Factors that affect the process
2.1.2 Application methods
2.1.2.1 Injection method (or traditional method)6
2.1.2.2 Pre-mixing method
2.1.2.2.1 Pre-mixed additive manufacturing
2.1.2.3 Surface spraying method10
2.1.3 Effects on engineering properties
2.1.3.1 Sand12
2.1.3.2 Clay
2.1.4 Field-scale applications
2.1.5 Cost reduction potential
3. METHODOLOGY17
3.1 Spray solutions preparation17
3.1.1 Bacterial solution
3.1.2 Cementation solution
3.1.3 Activity measurement
3.2 Spray Setup20

3.3 Layer Penetration Calibration	23
3.3.1 Soil mixtures	23
3.3.2 Single layer application	25
3.4 Cubic Strength Specimens	26
3.5 Gel Spray Solutions for Sand Samples	28
3.6 Stencil Specimens	
4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	31
4.1 Layer Penetration Calibration	31
4.2 Cubic Strength Specimens	
4.3 Gel Spray Solutions for Sand Samples	43
4.4 Stencil Specimens	45
5. CONCLUSIONS	47
6. REFERENCES	49
7. APPENDIX	

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.2.1 Complete research matrix	23
Table 3.3.1.1 USCS Classifications of soil combinations	.25
Table 4.1.1 Average penetration for different soil mixtures	32
Table 4.2.1 Sample properties and UCS results for treated sand-clay specimens	38
Table 4.2.2 Sample properties and UCS results for untreated specimens	39

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1.1 Effective bridge formation: (a) schematic diagram; and (b) Scanning electronmicroscopy (SEM) (Mujah et al., 2017)
<b>Figure 2.1.1.1</b> Calcite precipitation in: (a) lightly cemented fine sand; (b) highly cemented fine sand; (c) lightly cemented coarse sand; and (d) highly cemented coarse sand (Konstantinou, Biscontin, et al., 2021)
<b>Figure 2.1.1.2</b> SEM images of: (a) coarse Ottawa 20-30 sand; (b) medium Ottawa 50-70 sand; (c) fine Nevada sand; and (d-f) higher magnifications of the three (Nafisi et al., 2020a)
Figure 2.1.2.1.1 A traditional injection method setup (Konstantinou, Biscontin, et al., 2021)7
Figure 2.1.2.1.2 MICP transformation: (a) loose sand; and (b) bio-cemented sand (Mujahet al., 2017)
<b>Figure 2.1.2.2.1.1</b> Additive manufacturing using urease active calcium carbonate powder (Nething et al., 2020)
<b>Figure 2.1.2.2.1.2</b> Results of selective soil treatment additive manufacturing (Nething et al., 2020)
Figure 2.1.2.2.1.3 Additive manufacturing process and results (Nething et al., 2020)10
Figure 2.1.2.3.1 MICP treatment on a sandy slope (Kumar et al., 2020)11
<b>Figure 2.4.1.1</b> Large scale soil treatment using injection MICP: (a) during treatment; and (b) after treatment (L. A. Van Paassen et al., 2009)
<b>Figure 2.4.1.2</b> Borehole stability with gravel: (a) drilling into the prepared soil; and (b) the stable borehole (L. van Paassen, 2011)
<b>Figure 2.4.1.3</b> The field where borehole stability was performed (Leon A. van Paassen, 2011)
Figure 2.4.1.4 Scour resistance by pile MICP injection treatment (Do et al., 2020)15
Figure 3.1.1 Flowchart of research process.       18
Figure 3.2.1 Initial spray bottles: (a) all-purpose plastic spray bottle; and (b) hand-held         pressure pump sprayer
Figure 3.2.2 Final spray setup
Figure 3.3.1.1 Soil gradation for Ottawa 20-30 sand

Figure 3.4.1 Untreated and MICP treated UCS specimens
Figure 3.4.2 Stackable mold for MICP treated stand specimens
Figure 3.5.1 Circular layer of 100% Ottawa sand created using spray gels with the pump spray system.
Figure 3.6.1 A layer during column construction
Figure 3.6.2 3D printed plant stalk stencil application
Figure 4.1.1 MICP penetration results for all soil combinations
<b>Figure 4.1.2</b> Weight of cemented soil volume for different soil combinations with constant spray solution volumes of 2.6 mL/2.6 mL
<b>Figure 4.1.3</b> Depth of cemented soil for different soil combinations with constant spray solution volumes of 2.6 mL/2.6 mL35
<b>Figure 4.1.4</b> Penetration behavior of CL - lean clay: (a) schematic; and (b) physical soil sample
<b>Figure 4.1.5</b> Penetration behavior of SP - gap graded sand: (a) schematic; and (b) physical soil sample
Figure 4.2.1 Stress-strain curve from UCS tests of 50-50 specimens
Figure 4.2.2 Failure behavior of cemented soil cubes
Figure 4.2.3 Observable layers in a cemented specimen40
Figure 4.2.4 Failure behavior of an uncemented cube
Figure 4.2.5 Failure behavior of a 100% Ottawa sand specimen
Figure 4.3.1 Gel spray results for different scenarios
Figure 4.3.2 Effects of time on cemented sand specimens
<b>Figure 4.6.1</b> Cemented column, 50% sand 50% clay46
Figure 4.6.2 Cemented plant stalk layer, 100% Ottawa sand47
Figure 7.1 Soil phase diagram for 100% 20-30 Ottawa sand55
Figure 7.2 Soil phase diagram for 100% Red Art clay55
Figure 7.3 Soil phase diagrams for 75% Ottawa sand and 25% Red Art clay by volume

Figure 7.4 Soil phase diagrams for 50% Ottawa sand and 50% Red Art clay by volume.......57Figure 7.5 Soil phase diagrams for 25% Ottawa sand and 75% Red Art clay by volume.......58

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

### **1.1 Objectives**

The objective of this research is to develop a new approach to Microbially Induced Calcite Precipitation (MICP) soil treatment using an additive manufacturing technique. The specific goals include:

- a) Examine the possibility of a single spray application method of MICP completed in a layer-by-layer process.
- b) Gain an understanding of cementation behavior of different soil classifications and explore soil types that are not typically suitable for injection MICP methods, yet exist in much of the world.
- c) Determine strength benefits of this new application method and consider potential applicability.
- d) Perform a preliminary assessment of spray gel solutions for a more refined application alternative.

#### **1.2 Overview**

After the introductory Section 1, Section 2 provides a literature review summarizing the MICP process, what factors can influence the efficacy of the process, the current methods of application, the effects of MICP on engineering properties of soils, field-scale applications, and cost effectiveness of this type of treatment. Section 3 outlines the methodology for the process including how the bacterial and cementation solutions are developed, the spray system developed for the process, how layer parameters were determined for different soil types, how the unconfined compression test specimens were prepared, the development of gel spray solutions, and the method chosen for stencil usage. Next, Section 4 includes the results and discussion for the cementation

penetration tests, unconfined compression tests, and the alternative application options of gel sprays and stencils. Finally, the conclusions of all experimentation, and the viability of this new method of MICP application, is stated in Section 5.

#### 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

#### **2.1 Microbially Induced Calcite Precipitation (MICP)**

Calcium carbonate is a natural byproduct of microbial metabolic activity. The relationship has led to a commonly used system of leveraging microbial activity known as Microbially Induced Calcite Precipitation, or MICP. *Sporosarcina Pasteurii* is generally considered the most reliable and consistent source of microbial activity. Other bacteria options exist, such as *Bacillus Sphaericus*, but result in lower final specimen strengths (Sharma et al., 2021). Several methods exist for activating calcite precipitation, the most common method is urease hydrolysis which behaves according to Equation 1. Once carbonate ions precipitate, the ions react with calcium ions to form calcite (Equation 2).

$$CO(NH_2)_2 + 2H_2O \rightarrow 2NH_4^+ + CO_3^{2-}$$
 (1)

$$Ca^{2+} + CO_3^{2-} \rightarrow CaCO_3 \tag{2}$$

The resulting precipitation provides increased stiffness due to the cementation bridges formed between sand grains. In the typical injection-style application, cementation occurs both around the sand grains and as cementation bridges between grains (Figure 2.1.1). This means that while all precipitation that occurs will affect the soil, not all precipitation will form effective bridges between soil grains and cannot be described thus. Calcite is the most stable form of precipitate, however vaterite crystals are also a viable, less stable precipitate. The stability of the precipitation environment and the type of nutrient used can affect which minerals precipitate (Omoregie et al., 2019).



**Figure 2.1.1** Effective bridge formation: (a) schematic diagram; and (b) Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) (Mujah et al., 2017)

#### 2.1.1 Factors that affect the MICP process

The efficacy of the chemical processes that produce calcite can be affected by several factors, with the primary factor being the molar concentrations of all reagents. The activity level of the bacteria can alter reaction time, which also affects the overall process. Another important factor is the grain size of the soil being treated. The injection form of treatment (i.e., the most common method developed to date) is performed with the most ease on well-graded and coarser sands due to their higher permeability and greater void space which allows for higher activity levels (Arpajirakul et al., 2021; Mortensen et al., 2011; Zhao et al., 2014). Finer sands, silts and clays can be treated but the lower permeability limits the penetration of the solutions and often results in lower levels of uniformity. An increase in specific surface, as occurs with a decrease in particle size, allows for higher levels of bacteria attachment which can lead to higher calcium

carbonate activity (Hushmand et al., 2017; Konstantinou et al., 2021; Sun et al., 2019). Having less void space to fill can also aid the bacteria in successfully cementing soil. Figure 2.1.1.1 illustrates how void spaces in finer grains restrict the precipitation create a more overall uniform precipitation. The Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM) images in Figure 2.1.1.2 also demonstrate the effects of a change in specific surface by showing images of coarse, medium and fine sands treated with MICP. The coarse uniformly-graded sand shown in Figure 2.1.1.2.a and Figure 2.1.1.2.d, Ottawa 20-30, has a lower specific surface and fewer contact points than the other two sands shown which noticeably affects the bonding ability of the cementation precipitate. There are, therefore, contrasting benefits both for coarse grained soils and finegrained soils and results of any given application may be highly variable depending on the specifics of the soil under consideration.



**Figure 2.1.1.1** Calcite precipitation in: (a) lightly cemented fine sand; (b) highly cemented fine sand; (c) lightly cemented coarse sand; and (d) highly cemented coarse sand (Konstantinou, Biscontin, et al., 2021).



(a)

(d)

(b)

(c)

(f)



**Figure 2.1.1.2** SEM images of: (a) coarse Ottawa 20-30 sand; (b) medium Ottawa 50-70 sand; (c) fine Nevada sand; and (d-f) higher magnifications of the three (Nafisi et al., 2020a).

(e)

One benefit of MICP application is that there is no notable variance in performance due to curing environments. Positive results can be achieved in up to 100% salinity, below the groundwater table, and in poor weather conditions (Kumar et al., 2020; Mortensen et al., 2011).

While there are many advantages to using a bio-cementation soil treatment, there are also some difficulties. It is difficult to sustain steady bacteria activity which causes the mass of precipitated calcium carbonate to fluctuate (Zhao et al., 2014). In part due to the fluctuation caused by bacteria activity, the bacteria concentrations of injected solutions also varies within specimens which causes a lack of uniformity (Wang et al., 2017). The issue of uniformity has been somewhat successfully addressed by adjusting the bacterial urease activity (Konstantinou, Wang, et al., 2021) and retarding the bacteria activity with lower temperature to allow for uniform dispersion prior to precipitation (Y. Xiao, Wang, et al., 2021).

#### 2.1.2 Application methods

Bio-cementation has been examined as a soil treatment option considering three methods: injecting, pre-mixing, and surface spraying. Injecting is the most common method used in academic experimentation, pre-mixing is only used for special applications, and surface spraying has been used to prevent erosion of soil surfaces in field-scale applications. These three methods are the foundation for a broad spectrum of specific preparation and application methods performed for different purposes. One facet that all methods have in common is that post a singular placement of bacteria into the soil, multiple treatments of cementation solution are applied.

#### 2.1.2.1 Injection method (or traditional method)

Traditional MICP is performed by injecting the bacteria solution to create a saturated environment, draining the solution, and repeating the process with the urea solution (Fujita et al., 2000; Stocks-Fischer et al., 1999). The urea solution is often injected over repeated cycles to generate more desirable results (e.g., Akimana, 2016; DeJong et al., 2006; Montoya et al., 2021; A. Zamani & Montoya, 2018). Figure 2.1.2.1.1 shows the steps of this method, starting with the introduction of bacteria into the sample and followed by introducing the cementation solution for an extended period of time. Injection is generally controlled by peristaltic pump. The specific time of retention and specific number of cementation solution applications vary across the literature (e.g., Bagriacik, Sani, Uslu, Yigittekin, & Dincer, 2021; Nafisi et al., 2020b; Qian et al., 2021; Whiffin et al., 2007). Once treatment is finished, the sample is generally flushed with deionized water to remove any remaining bacteria and reaction byproducts, namely ammonia. The results can take loose sand and form it into a sandstone like material (Figure 2.1.2.1.2).



Figure 2.1.2.1.1 A traditional injection method setup (Konstantinou et al., 2021).



**Figure 2.1.2.1.2** MICP transformation: (a) loose sand; and (b) bio-cemented sand (Mujah et al., 2017)

#### 2.1.2.2 Pre-mixing method

Pre-mixing involves directly mixing the bacteria into the soil specimen prior to applying cementation solution (Sun et al., 2019). For field scenarios, this would require removing the soil to be treated, mixing it with the bacteria solution, replacing the soil, and applying the cementation solution. Premixing examples are more limited than other methods, but this method has been applied to soft clay treatment and a type of additive manufacturing (Arpajirakul et al., 2021; Kannan et al., 2020; Nething et al., 2020; Teng et al., 2021; Tiwari et al., 2021). For the soft clay, premixing the bacteria allowed for more uniform spatial distribution which resulted in higher levels of induced calcite (Teng et al., 2021; J. Z. Xiao et al., 2020). Premixing allowed for soft clay to be more effectively treated and be transformed into a useful construction material. While premixing provides more uniform cementation than injecting, it can require natural soil to be disturbed and is not as popular as the injecting method.

#### 2.1.2.2.1 Premixed additive manufacturing

Forays into additive manufacturing using MICP have relied upon selectively premixing a urease active calcium carbonate powder with soil. The 3D printer layers pure sand and selective areas of sand mixed with the urease active calcium carbonate powder created from a bio slurry of calcium carbonate powder (Nething et al., 2020). Once 3D printing was completed with dry pure sand and dry biopowder-sand mix, the entire build volume was treated with cementation solution for 5 minutes every 8 hours for a total of 5 treatments (Figure 2.1.2.2.1.1). Results of this method can be seen in Figure 2.1.2.2.1.2 and Figure 2.1.2.2.1.3.



**Figure 2.1.2.2.1.1** Additive manufacturing using urease active calcium carbonate powder (Nething et al., 2020).



**Figure 2.1.2.2.1.2** Results of selective soil treatment additive manufacturing (Nething et al., 2020).



Figure 2.1.2.2.1.3 Additive manufacturing process and results (Nething et al., 2020).

This approach to additive manufacutinr MICP was able to achieve compressive strengths roughly equivalent to weak concrete. The precision of the results was limited by grain size of the soil, and dimension deviations were measured from 2%-43% for the specimen in Figure 2.1.2.2.1.3. Nething et al.'s research demonstrates a successful method of 3D printing using the MICP procedure, but is complicated by the addition of the urease active calcium carbonate powder. The process for creating this powder is likely not field-scale friendly. Requring multiple cementation solution applications over a total of 40 hours also increases the required volume of solution and the time required for treatment application.

#### 2.1.2.3 Surface spraying method

Surface spraying of both solutions has proven to be effective, but without disturbing the soil, the method is limited to the first several meters of the subsurface and can be highly dependent on soil type and grain size. While greater depths may be reached, the level of cementation decreases with depth. It is the bacteria's need for space and oxygen which can limit both the depth of application and the suitable grain size for treatment (van Paassen, 2009). Surface application of MICP treatment has been proven to help prevent erosion in highly

susceptible areas such as coastal and desert sand dunes (Do et al., 2020; Katebi et al., 2021; Kumar et al., 2020; Shanahan & Montoya, 2014). Applying MICP to the surface of sand dunes creates a biocrust and effectively increases the angle of repose (Shanahan & Montoya, 2014). When applied in the boreholes of foundation systems, MICP also aids in scour resistance (Do et al., 2020). Surface application methods use multiple applications of cementation solution to achieve the desired calcite content. Applying in-situ surface treatment results in greater precipitation at depths closer to the surface, but can successfully protect the soil's crust (Figure 2.1.2.3.1).



Figure 2.1.2.3.1 MICP treatment on a sandy slope (Kumar et al., 2020).

#### 2.1.3 Effects on engineering properties

Multiple cementation solution injections results in higher percentages of calcite which leads to higher compressive strength (Islam et al., 2020; Muhammed et al., 2021; Mujah et al., 2019; Whiffin et al., 2007; J. Z. Xiao et al., 2020). The increase in calcite causes increase in soil stiffness (Feng & Montoya, 2015; Mortensen & DeJong, 2011). Shear strength of the treated soil also increases from silty-sand to sand (Feng & Montoya, 2015; Ghasemi et al., 2019; Swan, 2011; Wu et al., 2021; A Zamani & Montoya, 2015). The increase in calcite produces decreased pore space and lower permeability (Akimana, 2016; Almajed et al., 2021; Islam et al., 2020; Muhammed et al., 2021; Sun et al., 2019; Atefeh Zamani et al., 2019). The sand bridges formed by the precipitate connect sand grains and increase roughness and therefore increase overall strength (Nafisi et al., 2018). This also effectively increases the cohesion and internal angle of friction which increases slope stability (Almajed et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2021). The precipitation decreases the void ratio and therefore decreases the compressibility of the soil (Y. Xiao, Zhao, et al., 2021). Further benefits can be gained with the addition of synthetic fibers to the soil specimens (Li et al., 2016).

### 2.1.3.1 Sand

MICP treatment on sand has a few unique components. Sand that has been treated with bio-cementation is more prone to dilation compared to untreated sand at similar void ratios and applied stress levels (Wu et al., 2021). As levels of cementation increase, dilation potential for treated sand increases. Increases in confining pressure can result in degradation of cemented sand specimens (Nafisi et al., 2021). Degradation of cementation also occurs at higher levels of strain (Wu et al., 2021).

12

#### 2.1.3.2 Clay

Treating clay specimens with MICP presents many unique challenges. Since the permeability of clay is much lower than coarser grained soils, premixing is often employed to evenly distribute bacteria prior to treatment (Arpajirakul et al., 2021; Teng et al., 2021; Tiwari et al., 2021). While MICP benefits the physical properties of clay soils, it also affects the chemical properties. High-swelling montmorillonite clay has been observed to convert to low-swelling illite clay (Wei et al., 2021). Changes like these result in soil classification changes like fat clay to elastic silt or highly plastic clay to low plastic clay (Islam et al., 2020; Kannan et al., 2020; Tiwari et al., 2021). Due to the chemical nature of clay environments, the surrounding pH affects the MICP activity more than it does with sand. A pH of 9 is ideal as a lower pH, specifically 5, can hinder the process (Keykha et al., 2017; Teng et al., 2021). While applying MICP to clayey soil introduces more complexities, it still results in higher compressive strength, increased shear strength, lower compressibility, and reduced swelling (Cardoso et al., 2018; Islam et al., 2020; Kannan et al., 2020; Tiwari et al., 2021). Surface spraying applications are limited by soil type; the application process proposed in this research will overcome many of the complexities associated with the treatment of clayey soils.

#### 2.1.4 Field-scale applications

Competent soil is in high demand due to continued global construction, and soil treatments like MICP allow for improvement of existing soil without having to import alternative soil (Swan, 2011). Many locations have prohibited synthetic soil treatments, which delivers more value to the environmentally friendly non-synthetic nature of MICP (Swan, 2011). Large scale experimentation has been performed using surface spraying treatment (previously discussed) and injection style treatment. Upscaled surface injection experimentation performed by van Paassen

(2009) successfully demonstrated cementation but presented complexities in creating uniformity (Figure 2.4.1.1).



**Figure 2.4.1.1** Large scale soil treatment using injection MICP: a) during treatment; and b) after treatment (van Paassen et al., 2009).

Further development of the process by van Paassen (2011) led to the investigation of borehole stability using MICP. Stability of the soil structure was achieved even with the inclusion of gravel-sized particles (Figure 2.4.1.2). Once it was determined to be an appropriate method, MICP was used for a field scale borehole stability project (van Paassen, 2011).



**Figure 2.4.1.2** Borehole stability with gravel: (a) drilling into the prepared soil; and (b) the stable borehole (van Paassen, 2011).

![](_page_24_Picture_0.jpeg)

Figure 2.4.1.3 The field where borehole stability was performed (van Paassen, 2011).

In addition to borehole stability, MICP treatment has been investigated as a means of increasing the scour resistance of foundation systems supporting structures on or near waterways (Do et al., 2020). Treatment for increased scour resistance was assessed using 5 cm piles with injection sources inserted at intervals (Figure 2.4.1.4). Tests were performed on 3 ft large scale test boxes and treatment was applied at intervals for almost a month. Surface behavior was noticeably affected, and erosion levels decreased.

![](_page_24_Figure_3.jpeg)

Figure 2.4.1.4 Scour resistance by pile MICP injection treatment (Do et al., 2020).

Many field-applied experimentation has been aimed at decreasing erosion. Erosion control is currently the most predictable use for practical application of MICP. With the further development of MICP procedures and understanding of its benefits, the scope of application will likely continue to grow.

#### 2.1.5 Cost reduction potential

All methods of soil treatment using MICP are economically competitive or similar compared to alternative treatments such as deep soil mixing, jet grouting, or chemical grouting (Wang et al., 2017). While MICP soil treatment has proven to be a comparable economic alternative, further economizing the process dramatically increases the scope of application. Further economic benefits can be achieved by replacing some components of the treatment solutions with effective alternatives. Current forays into cost-effective mass application have focused on alternative sources for bacteria nutrients. The standard food for bacteria growth is industrial grade yeast. The change from laboratory grade chemicals to industrial grade for all chemicals was a crucial change for field-scale applications, but further savings can be accomplished by implementing food grade yeast (Kumar et al., 2020; Omoregie et al., 2019). Omoregie (2019) tested the use of food grade yeast in place of industrial grade yeast. The ideal, most stable calcium carbonate precipitate occurs as calcite, but change in the equation variables can cause calcium carbonate to precipitate as vaterite, a less stable and more soluble condition of calcium carbonate. Omoregie (2019) determined that switching to a food grade yeast alternative caused an increase of around 5% vaterite compared to using industrial grade yeast. Despite the noted increase of vaterite, food grade yeast delivers a dramatic decrease in cost and a viable option for some applications. Many other potential nutrient alternatives have been determined as effective including potato solution, corn pulp, lactose mother liquor, whey, and CSL (Chaparro

et al., 2021; Katebi et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2017). Replacing industrial grade urea with pig urine has proven to be another cost-effective replacement for standard MICP components, as it successfully completes the MICP process and puts a waste product to good use as well (Chen et al., 2019).

#### **3. METHODOLOGY**

The additive manufacturing method adapted in the following pages is based on a powder bed, or binder jet, style 3D printing application. This method of 3D printing involves a printing bed that is lowered as each layer of dry powder is added. The layers of dry powder are selectively sprayed with a binder solution to create the desired patterns. The process is continued with layering of dry powder and applications of binder solution until the desired part is completed. For this research, powder bed style additive manufacturing will be adapted for biocementation of dry soils, where the binder solution consists of the bacterial and cementation solutions applied consecutively.

#### **3.1 Spray solution preparation**

Equal amounts of bacterial solution and cementation solution were prepared prior to the additive manufacturing procedures. The entire process followed for this research can be seen in Figure 3.1.1 and will be discussed in the subsequent pages. Cementation solutions were prepared less than 24 hours before application, and bacterial solutions were used directly after optical density was read. Compared to alternative application methods (e.g., injection, premixing, surface spraying), significantly lower volumes of solutions were required, although the concentration of the cementation solution was higher than most.

![](_page_27_Figure_0.jpeg)

![](_page_27_Figure_1.jpeg)

## **3.1.1 Bacterial solution**

The behavior of the bacteria, *Sporosarcina Pasteurii*, is well-defined as it relates to urea hydrolysis (DeJong et al., 2006; Mortensen et al., 2011). For this reason, it was chosen as the bacterium for all applications herein. The Sporosarcina Pasteurii bacteria was received in a

freeze-dried state as part of the type species from a culture collection (DSM 33 / ATCC 11859). Each step in the bacteria preparation procedure was performed in sterile and aerobic conditions. Bacteria culture was inoculated in growth medium plates prepared with 20 g/L yeast extract, 10 g/L ammonium sulfate, 20 g/L agar, and 0.13 M tris buffer (base). Plates were kept in a warm room at 30°C for 48-72 hours and then stored at 4°C for up to two weeks. Bacteria from one petri dish was removed and incubated in the growth medium (growth medium plate's ingredients minus the agar) at 30°C and 150 rpm for 48-72 hours. 500 grams of medium was prepared in each batch. The growth medium had a pH of 9.1 prior to the addition of bacteria and a pH of 8.0 once the bacteria had grown. Optical density (OD) was measured using a scanning spectrophotometer with a final OD<sub>600 nm</sub> of 0.6-1.85. Higher optical densities were found at wavelength values of less than 600, however 600 was used as a standard value which allows for ease of comparison with previous literature.

#### **3.1.2.** Cementation solution

The urea-calcium cementation solution was prepared at a 1.5:1.0 ratio of urea and calcium, respectively. A high concentration of solution was prepared due to the single treatment application method of additive manufacturing MICP. The ideal concentration of calcium chloride has been found to be 1.0 M (Lai et al., 2021), which is used here. The pH of the urea cementation solution was measured to be 7.1. Equivalent volumes of cementation solution and bacterial solution were prepared for each batch.

#### **3.1.3 Urease activity measurement**

The level of urea hydrolysis was calculated using the electrical conductivity method (Whiffin et al., 2007). For this method, a 1:9 volume combination of bacteria solution ( $OD_{600} = 1.0$ ) and urea solution (1.11 M concentration), respectively, were combined and activity was

19

measured over a 5 minute interval using an electrical conductivity probe. Hydrolyzed urea can be calculated using equation 3 (Bagriacik, Sani, Uslu, Yigittekin, Chu, et al., 2021). The pH of the combined solutions was measured to be 7.7.

Urea Hydrolyzed (mM) = Conductivity (mS) 
$$*$$
 11.11 (3)

### 3.2 Spray setup

Initial trials to cement sand using a spray MICP technique were performed using three different renditions of spray apparatuses. The first set of spray bottles used were all-purpose plastic spray bottles with an adjustable spray nozzle (Figure 3.2.1.a). While this preliminary version confirmed the potential for an additive manufacturing application of MICP the generic bottles allowed for too much variability in spray volume and direction. In an effort to maintain an enhanced level of control on solution output, a new set of hand-held pressure pump sprayers that allowed for continuous spraying were obtained (Figure 3.2.1.b). These new sprayers allowed for more consistent spraying than the previous set, however the pressure decreased during spraying which varied the applied solution volume slightly. An attempted solution was a set of spray gel bottles for the gel MICP solutions. These bottles were chosen for the specific application but posed similar issues to the first set of spray bottles.

![](_page_30_Picture_0.jpeg)

![](_page_30_Figure_1.jpeg)

The final spray application setup for both liquid and gel was developed with a Raspberry Pi controlling two small peristaltic pumps. Separate pumps and lines were used for the two solutions so that precipitation would not occur prior to application and the lines would remain unclogged. The pumps were connected to drip irrigation micro sprinklers (foggers) with flex tubing and a 360° spray pattern that includes a mechanism to break liquid into micro-sized drops. The nozzles also are adjustable so that the volume and spray diameter can be controlled. The dispensed solutions were controlled by time of spray; a relationship was developed between time of spray and mL of solution dispelled. A rate of 1.3 mL/s was dispensed for each cementation procedure used in this research. The final spray set up can be seen in Figure 3.2.2.

![](_page_31_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 3.2.2 Final spray setup.

During the development of the final spray setup, many specimens were cemented and the results analyzed. The analyses of the intermediary results provided essential insight into the project that ultimately led to testing that was performed using the final spray setup. Table 3.2.1 includes all specimens cemented throughout the process, both preliminary and final. With the initial multi-use spray bottle setup, both small and large molded cylinders were cemented with Ottawa 20-30 sand. The large cylindrical molds proved an issue as the soil cemented to the walls of the mold and proved difficult to extract. After initial testing, large cylinders were created with a stencil in the middle of a larger square mold to remove any complexities with cementation to the mold itself. Once the cuboidal molds were acquired, they were used for both surface cementation and cubic specimens to allow for cohesive results.

 Table 3.2.1 Complete research matrix.

Specimen type:	Spray Bottles with Liquid Solutions	Pressure Pump Sprayers with Liquid Solutions	Final Spray System with Liquid Solutions	Final Spray System with Gel Solutions
Small cylinders from molds	45	10		
Large cylinders from molds	5			
Surface cementation in tins	30	20		
Surface cementation, square		12	40	
Surface cementation with stencil			12	48
Large cylinders from stencil layering		2	3	
Cuboidal		10	15	
Surface cementation with plant stalk stencil			1	

## **3.3 Layer penetration parametric study**

## 3.3.1 Soil mixtures

In order to perform MICP with additive manufacturing where the two solutions required for the process are sprayed consecutively for each layer, it is crucial to understand how far the given volume of solution permeates through each soil layer. The depth of solution penetration varies depending on the soil properties such as hydraulic conductivity, void space, and soil type. Two standardized soil types were chosen to represent a range of soil types: Ottawa 20-30 sand and Red Art clay. Ottawa 20-30 sand is a poorly graded sand with a specific gravity of 2.65 and a  $D_{50}$  of 0.71 mm (Polito et al., 2013). The gradation for Ottawa 20-30 Sand is shown in Figure 3.3.1.1. Ottawa 20-30 is considered a coarse sand and is comprised of spherical sand grains. The combination of sphericity and size of the sand particles results in a soil that is more difficult to bio-cement and requires higher levels of precipitation. As a stand-alone soil, finer sands, wellgrade sands, or more angular sands would allow for more efficient cementation. Red Art clay, a commercially available pottery clay, is lean clay with a liquid limit of 38, plasticity index of 19, and specific gravity of 2.77. A standard clay and a clean sand were chosen to represent two distinctly different soil classifications to prove that cementation using the method described herein is possible with both classifications and for the range of soils in-between. Incremental combinations of these two foundational soils were also considered using percent by volume (Table 3.3.1.1). All soil mixes were classified according to the USCS soil classification method (American Society for Testing and Materials International, 2000). A void ratio of 0.70 was chosen to for soil mixes, and the soil was considered in a dry state. Phase diagrams shown in the appendix provide the results of the individual mix analyses. Initially incremental combinations of soil were created at every 10% of volume; however, the lack of disparity between the results did not justify the use of twelve soil mixtures and therefore the soil mixes were reduced to every 25% of volume resulting in five different soil mixes. Future work could focus on more specifically desired soils, or soils more likely to be encountered in the field.

![](_page_34_Figure_0.jpeg)

 Table 3.3.1.1 USCS Classifications of soil combinations.

Figure 3.3.1.1 Soil gradation for Ottawa 20-30 sand.

## **3.3.2 Single layer application**

20.0 10.0 0.0 0.1

Specimens were prepared in two-inch cubic silicon molds with all soil mixtures compacted to equal void ratios of 0.70. Single applications of 2.6 mL of bacterial solution and 2.6 mL of

1

Particle Size (mm)

10

cementation solution were applied sequentially to the entire surface area of each prepared specimen. Specimens were then left to cure for at least 24 hours to allow precipitation to occur and cemented locations to air dry. This process was performed with a constant volume of both solutions so that the relationship between the volume of solution and the depth of cementation penetration for each respective soil type could be established.

#### **3.4 Cubic strength specimens**

Once an understanding of cementation penetration depth was achieved for the soil mixtures, layered specimens could be created. By limiting the height of each layer to less than the penetration depth determined in the single layer application trials, the potential of layer delamination should be reduced. Unconfined compression strength (UCS) test specimens were prepared using a 50% Ottawa sand and 50% Red Art clay mix, a sandy lean clay (CL). One 100% Ottawa sand specimen was produced as a baseline comparison, although it was determined that the clean Ottawa sand was more difficult to cement than the mixture soils. The sandy lean clay specimens were prepared in a 2-inch cubic silicon mold by gently compacting each individual layer prior to applying bacterial solution and cementation solution. Specimens were prepared with various optical densities of bacteria and various solution volumes; a five second pause was always allotted between applying the bacteria solution and the cementation solution. Once specimens were complete, they were placed in a 62°C oven until dry. Notable urease activity occurs in a temperature range of about 10 °C to 70 °C, after which activity significantly declines (van Paassen et al., 2009). Therefore, urease activity was still able to occur as specimens dried in the oven. A baseline strength for this preparation method was determined by preparing specimens with the sand/clay soil mixture with the additive manufacturing provess replacing both solutions with water. The wet, compacted specimens were then dried in the oven prior to

26

testing. Both untreated and MICP treated specimens can be seen in Figure 3.4.1. Unconfined compression tests were performed on a hydraulic frame at a rate of 1% strain/minute.

![](_page_36_Picture_1.jpeg)

Figure 3.4.1 Oven-dried specimens: (a) MICP treated; and (b) untreated

From the penetration experiements, approximate depths of cementation were determined for the different soil mixes. Pure Ottawa sand cemented in more shallow layers than when mixed with any amount of clay; the limited cementation depth required a method of controlling layer depth during specimen construction so as to avoid potential layer delamination. For this purpose a 3D printed mold was designed with stackable, equal height layers of 5 mm (Figure 3.4.2).

![](_page_37_Picture_0.jpeg)

![](_page_37_Figure_1.jpeg)

![](_page_37_Figure_2.jpeg)

![](_page_37_Picture_3.jpeg)

(c)

![](_page_37_Picture_5.jpeg)

(d)

**Figure 3.4.2** 3D printed stackable mold for MICP treated sand specimen: (a) mold base; (b) mold layer; (c) stached mold with specimen; and (d) sand sample.

#### 3.5 Gel spray solutions for clean sand samples

Soils with higher hydraulic conductivity values exhibit less uniform distribution of cementation through the additive manufacturing process. In other words, the solutions dispersed throughout the soil in a less controlled manner. In order to address this issue, it was determined that increasing the viscosity of both spray solutions and creating spray gels could reduce the

dispersion of the solutions and allow them to concentrate at the grain contacts, ultimately providing a more efficient cementation and a way to spray a defined pattern. The spray gel solutions were prepared using the same concentrations as the original solutions, but with the addition of 2g/L agar. The addition of agar increased the density of the solution to 1.31 g/cm<sup>3</sup>. Agar was sterilized and dissolved by bringing it to a boiling point with deionized water. The agar solution was allowed to cool before combining it with the other ingredients. For the cementation solution, the total concentrations of urea and calcium chloride were adjusted such that when combined with the agar, they reached the proper concentrations. For the bacteria solution, optical density was read after the addition of agar with the base solution (i.e., growth medium with agar). The initial optical density of the bacteria solution was 1.83; after the addition of the agar solution, an optical density of 1.60 was measured. The effects of adding agar to the solutions was analyzed by single layer applications with a circular stencil such that both spread and penetration could be measured (Figure 3.5.1).

![](_page_38_Picture_1.jpeg)

Figure 3.5.1 Circular layer of 100% Ottawa sand created using spray gels with the pump spray system.

## 3.6 Stencil specimens

One benefit of additive manufacturing construction is the ability to create shapes and structures that provide benefits such as increased stiffness, load transfer ability, or mechanical behavior. Small-scale assessment of the possibility for dual-spray MICP to perform well when applied to specific surface areas was evaluated by circular stencils and by a 3D printed stencil representing an idealized plant stalk cell structure. A circular stencil was applied to every layer of clay/sand soil within a preparation box to create a column (Figure 3.6.1). Plant stalk stencil applications were performed on surface layers only (Figure 3.6.2).

![](_page_39_Picture_2.jpeg)

Figure 3.6.1 A layer in the column construction using a stencil.

![](_page_40_Picture_0.jpeg)

Figure 3.6.2 3D printed plant stalk stencil: (a) surface layer application; and (b) design.

For the circular stencil tests, three different scenarios were considred: (1) one spray of each solution per layer placed in the oven to cure, (2) two sprays of each solution per layer placed in the oven to cure, and (3) two sprays of each solution cured at room temperature. This was performed to assess the effect that changing the viscocity of the solutions might have on the cemenetation in terms of uniformity, depth, and spread. Preliminary experimentation indicated potential issues with the solutions mixing in-situ, which is why tests were run with two sets of sprays and with oven-curing.

### 4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### **4.1 Layer penetration calibration**

The cementation behavior of MICP is known to be affected by the type of soil being treated. This variance is largely due to grain size affecting the specific surface of the soil. Other factors that influence cementation include: the angularity of the grains, the volume of the void space, and the mineralogy of the soil. In the style of application examined herein, the hydraulic conductivity of the soil also impacted the results, as the solutions were applied to the surface without any significant treatment pressure. Table 4.1.1 provides average data from the set of

three tests performed. Both weight and depth of cementation increase when clay is mixed with sand, but begin to decrease with the further addition of clay.

%	% RED	CLASSIFICATION	WEIGHT OF	DEPTH OF
OTTOWA	ART CLAY		CEMENTATION	CEMENTATION
SAND			(g)	(mm)
100	0	SP – poorly graded sand	46.0	7.0
75	25	SC – clayey sand	95.8	16.9
50	50	CL – sandy lean clay	73.7	12.3
25	75	CL – lean clay with sand	45.4	8.7
0	100	CL – lean clay	31.2	7.1

**Table 4.1.1** Average penetration for different soil mixtures at equal treatment volume.

All of the soil types successfully cemented to varying degrees. As shown in Figure 4.1.1, the top layers of each soil combination were placed on their side such that a section view could be observed. The 100% Ottawa sand specimen provided less specific surface than all other specimens and therefore the bacteria had fewer connection points allowing for cementation. This is expected to be the reason for the lower depths of cementation for the pure sand. The 75% Ottawa sand 25% clay blend gave the largest values for both depth and weight of cementation. The decline in depth and weight of cementation with the addition of more clay is most likely due to the decrease in hydraulic conductivity and the soil's ability to hold moisture. For optimal performance, the 75% Ottawa sand appears to balance the effects of specific surface and hydraulic conductivity. A 50-50 soil blend also performs comparatively well. Despite some soils appearing to have superior cementation, all soils were able to be cemented successfully without additional pressure and providing only one treatment application.

![](_page_42_Picture_0.jpeg)

**(a)** 

**(b)** 

(c)

![](_page_42_Picture_4.jpeg)

**(d)** 

**(e)** 

**Figure 4.1.1** MICP penetration for: (a) 100% Ottawa sand; (b) 75% Ottawa sand 25% clay; (c) 50% Ottawa sand, 50% clay; (d) 25% Ottawa sand, 75% clay; and (e) 100% clay.

While soil type has substantial affect on cementaiton results, the optical density of the bacteria solution is also a significant variable. The higher the optical density, the more active the cementation. Since the additive manufacturing method considered herein consists of only one treatment with the urea cementation solution, higher optical densities of the bacteria provide necessary benefits. Figure 4.1.2 exemplifies the increase in cementation volume by weight as optical density increases. While 0.58 and 1.0 are not likely ideal for field applications, the data demonstrates the benefit of increased optical density. Figure 4.1.2 also shows the trend of

increased cementeation with the addition of clay. Corresponding trends can be observed for the relationships between optical density and depth of cementation with respect to soil type (Figure 4.1.3).

![](_page_43_Figure_1.jpeg)

**Figure 4.1.2** Weight of cemented soil volume for different soil combinations with constant spray solution volumes of 2.6 mL/2.6 mL.

![](_page_44_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 4.1.3 Depth of cemented soil for different soil combinations with constant spray solution volumes of 2.6 mL/2.6 mL.

The hydraulic conductivity of soil affects the final infiltration of solution leading to cementation. Additionally, the hydraulic conductivity had observable effect on cementation uniformity. When the solutions were applied to the surface of the samples with clay, permeation was not immediate. The increased time of infiltration allowed the solutions to cover the surface area more evenly resulting in relatively homogenous depth across the surface (Figure 4.1.4). Even application of solution across the surface area was more challenging for the 100% sand samples due to the almost immediate permeation of the liquids into the soil samples. This difficulty often resulted in conical cementation of the sand layers (Figure 4.1.5).

![](_page_45_Picture_0.jpeg)

Figure 4.1.4 Penetration behavior of CL - lean clay: (a) schematic; and (b) physical soil sample.

![](_page_45_Figure_2.jpeg)

**Figure 4.1.5** Penetration behavior of SP - gap graded sand: (a) schematic; and (b) physical soil sample.

Layer penetration can be highly variable. However, with some soil specific calibration, an understanding of an acceptable layer depth range can be achieved. Due to the complexity of this method of application, it is recommended that site-specific testing be performed prior to any field application.

#### 4.2 Cubic strength specimens

All traditional methods of MICP application require several treatments with cementation solution. Increase in cementation solution treatments or exposure time leads to increase in calcite precipitation and thus strength of the treated soil. Relying on one application of both bacteria and cementation solution limits the resulting strength. One treatment application will not be able to provide the same strength as numerous treatments, but it does increase the strength compared to untreated soil (Islam et al., 2020; Muhammed et al., 2021; Nafisi et al., 2019). Table 4.2.1 provides the results of unconfined compression strength tests performed at a rate of 1%/min (ASTM, 2013). Variability in the peak stress is observable, even among specimens made with the same optical density and solution volumes, but a general trend of higher strength with higher density can be observed (Figure 4.2.1). This may be due to the slight variances in density and layer thicknesses. Table 4.2.2 provides the UCS results of the soil cubes prepared in the same method as the MICP treated cubes but with water in place of the MICP solutions. The untreated cubes unfortunately have a larger prestress value than the cemented specimens, however initial poundage that the two specimens experienced was only 13 pounds and 29 pounds.

![](_page_47_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 4.2.1 Stress-strain curve from UCS tests of 50-50 specimens.

Table 4.2.1 Sample properties and UCS results for treated sand-clay specimens.

Optical density	Spray volume (mL)	Soln. volume/surface area (L/m <sup>2</sup> )	Density (g/cm <sup>3</sup> )	Peak stress (kPa)	Strain at peak stress (%)
0.58	2.6	1.05	1.588	233.3	3.8
0.58	2.6	1.05	1.594	262.6	3.8
0.78	3.9	1.63	1.615	213.2	4.3
0.78	3.9	1.67	1.604	190.0	3.6
1.00	1.3	0.506	1.608	253.4	3.3
1.00	1.3	0.504	1.566	169.6	3.2
1.00	2.6	1.07	1.605	152.2	4.8
1.00	2.6	1.08	1.583	220.1	3.7

Optical Density	Spray volume (mL)	Density (g/cm <sup>3</sup> )	Peak Stress (kPa)	Strain at peak stress (%)
n/a	2.6	1.627	162.9	4.3
n/a	2.6	1.566	70.3	0.61

 Table 4.2.2 Sample properties and UCS results for untreated specimens.

Considering the average peak stress of the untreated cubes compared to the MICP treated cubes, an increased strength up to 2.25 times was observed for the MICP treated cubes, although only a slight improvement occurred for several specimens. Because of the current unpredictability in the results, it is recommended that additional testing be conducted to further understand the influence of these parameters on the resulting cementation and compressive strength. In some cases, additional applications of the cementation solution could be a feasible method of increasing the calcite content and thus the strength of the treated soil.

The failure mechanisms were quite similar for every specimen. What appears to be tension cracking can be observed (Figure 4.2.1). These cracks could potentially be due to tension failure as a result of a significantly weaker tension strength in the specimens. However, it seems likely that the failure mechanisms are a result of uneven loading surfaces. Future testing could attempt to create level surfaces for strength testing. The untreated cubes also presented similar failure mechanisms (Figure 4.2.3). Once the specimens failed and broke apart, the layers of construction were discernible within. Figure 4.2.2 exposes the interior of a cemented cube and labels the thicknesses of the layers within. There is some variation in the layer thicknesses, but all thicknesses are substantially within the appropriate range determined during the layer penetration calibration process. Calcium carbonate precipitate can be observed at the layer

39

interfaces which is likely due to seconds that the solutions remained on top of the soil prior to fully permeating the surface. While layer delamination was not a common issue, it was observed within one specimen and is a potential issue that should be considered in any field applications of this method.

![](_page_49_Picture_1.jpeg)

Figure 4.2.2 Failure behavior of cemented soil cubes.

![](_page_49_Picture_3.jpeg)

Figure 4.2.3 Observable layers in a cemented specimen.

![](_page_50_Picture_0.jpeg)

Figure 4.2.4 Failure behavior of an uncemented cube.

Due to the cohesion of clay specimens, an unconfined test of soil that has not been biocemented is possible. Comparisons between treated and untreated UCS strengths for 50% clay specimens were made, but no similar comparison could be performed for 100% sand specimens. Although no viable direct comparison, the sand cube prepared with 5 mm layers was tested in compression and reached a peak stress of 496 kPa. The failure mechanism for the pure sand sample was similar to the 50-50 samples and resulted in release of individual grains from the cemented body.

![](_page_51_Picture_0.jpeg)

Figure 4.2.5 Failure behavior of a 100% Ottawa sand specimen.

The results of all the unconfined compression testing suggest notable increase in soil strength after layered MICP application. This MICP application method is a single-phase method that does not require several treatments of cementation solution or long retention periods of either solution. Other MICP methods increase the strength by repeated cementation solution treatment, up to around 100 treatments. Repeated treatment methods can result in strengths similar to weak concrete or sandstone for sand specimens. For the method discussed herein, notable strength increases occurred in a sandy lean clay with only one application of the cementation solution.

#### 4.3 Gel spray solutions for sand samples

In an effort to establish a higher level of control for soils with higher permeability, spray gel solutions were developed for both the bacteria and cementation solutions. Initial single applications applied and cured at room temperature resulted in weakly cemented soil. The addition of the agar seemed to cause issues in allowing the solutions to combine and react appropriately. Furthermore, once the specimens had cured, the agar remained throughout the cemented area and seemed to behave as somewhat of a lubricant. In an effort to address these issues, two additional methods of application were considered. First was applying each solution twice to each layer. Applying the solutions twice was performed and the specimens were cured at room temperature (Figure 4.3.1.c) or cured in a 62°C oven (Figure 4.3.1.a). Initial results show the spray gel in the oven-cured circle-stencil specimens spread and significantly affected the surrounding soil. The room temperature cured specimens cemented similarly to the initial efforts although slightly improved in apparent strength. A single application of each solution was also applied, and oven cured and resulted in results similar to the double-application cured at room temperature, but with somewhat higher depths of penetration (Figure 4.3.1.b). These results appear to convey that if gel solutions are to be oven cured there is an appropriate volume limit for solution application to have control over the results. Note that required oven curing is less desirable for field applications because it complicates the method; however, it was explored here to examine the effects on the spray gel cementation levels.

![](_page_53_Picture_0.jpeg)

(a)

![](_page_53_Picture_2.jpeg)

(c)

Figure 4.3.1 Gel spray results for: (a) double sprayed and oven cured for (2) 25.4 mm diameter stencils and (1) 31.75 mm diameter stencil; (b) Single sprayed and oven cured for (2) 25.4 mm diameter stencils; and (c) double sprayed and room temperature cured for (2) 25.4 mm diameter stencils.

While the spray gel solutions show success, there are still unpredictable issues involved with the process. In Figure 4.3.2.a the initial results of an oven cured spray gel specimen can be observed. However, Figure 4.3.2.b shows the same sample one week later. The sample that was

once clearly cemented seemingly dissolved over time. This may be a side effect of adding agar to the solutions. Potentially the addition of agar, or some other variable chosen in this process, led to the development of vaterite in place of calcite, which is a much more unstable precipitate. While there is potential for success in creating gel spray solutions for specific MICP applications, there are still considerable efforts required to create a beneficial and reliable process. Another application option would be to try simultaneously spraying the solutions for each layer instead of the traditional sequential style.

![](_page_54_Picture_1.jpeg)

(a)

(b)

**Figure 4.3.2** Effects of time on 25.4 mm diameter cemented sand specimens: (a) 2 days after initial cementation; and (b) 1 week after initial cementation.

#### 4.6 Stencil specimens

Stencil specimens were investigated as an accessible technique for creating specific, beneficial shapes using additive manufacturing MICP. The column created by layering with a circular stencil is shown in Figure 4.6.1. While the column cemented successfully, the results are somewhat disfigured and do not demonstrate pristine clarity of form. Diameters measured along the height of the column were found to be up to 1.5 times the diameter of the circular stencil. Spread values were ranging from 4.7 mm 7.1 mm to (18% to 28% of the intended dimensions) for

each exterior surface. For the overall diameter, the sum of the spread therefore ranged from 9.4 mm to 14.2 mm. Such seemingly high spread values are ostensibly problematic, but this variability was based on a sample with an intended diameter of 25.4 cm. If upscaled to field scale, the likelihood of 7 mm spread on intended dimensions is likely much less significant. The variability and the actual spread is, of course, highly dependent on soil type.

![](_page_55_Picture_1.jpeg)

Figure 4.6.1 Cemented column, 50% sand 50% clay.

The plant stalk inspired stencil was applied to the surface layer of a 100% Ottawa sand specimen with liquid solutions (Figure 4.6.2). The depth of cementation increased compared to the penetration experiments due to the decrease in treated surface area. Variability between the dimensions of the stencil and the dimensions of the cemented layer ranged from 18%-60%. This variability is considering the intended dimensions of 3.75mm-5.55mm. While not displaying particular clarity, the results of the stencil layer application show promise for upscaled applications.

![](_page_56_Picture_0.jpeg)

Figure 4.6.2 Cemented plantstalk layer, 100% Ottawa sand.

## **5. CONCLUSIONS**

The feasibility of layer-by-layer single spray application additive manufacturing MICP soil treatment was evaluated. The behavior of different soil classifications were assessed by comparing the cemented zones formed through surface layer parametric studies. Cubic UCS specimens comprised of 50% Ottawa sand and 50% red art clay were prepared with variant optical densities and volumes of applied solutions. The results of this study indicate the viability of a new approach to MICP soil treatment using additive manufacturing. Additive manufacturing allows for leveraging shapes that provide enhanced engineering properties with less material. Using this method, most soil types could be enhanced to any excavated depth. The depth of cementation per layer will increase with an increase in hydraulic conductivity, but is also begins to decrease with the lower specific surface area of coarser grained soils. For field scale applications, depth of penetration could also be increased with pressure applied to the spray applications. Particular parameters of field applications would need to be analyzed for each individual soil application to determine the site-specific parameters (i.e., soil type affects both the depth and efficacy of additive manufacturing MICP treatment). Gel spray treatment solutions

may be applicable in situations where higher control is desired. The gel in the solution does not completely inhibit precipitation, but likely debilitates precipitation to some degree. Initial mixing of the gel solutions may be necessary prior to application to ensure calcite precipitation forms effectively. Soil enhancement with the method described herein provides lower levels of strength increased compared to more traditional methods, but the range of soil types that can be treated and the efficiency of the treatment application make it a promising technique.

Future work on this project will include both broadening the work presented herein and expanding it further. For the unconfined compression specimens, a method for creating level surfaces in the cemented specimens should be developed. UCS testing should also be performed on cylindrical cemented specimens and full-depth gel solution specimens. Further understanding of the specimens created with this new method of additive manufacturing MICP can be obtained by acquiring true calcite content and performing an X-ray CT scan. For the gel solutions, full depth specimens should be cemented and a relationship between the increased viscosity of solution and higher control of application developed, as well as UCS comparison for gel solution versus non-gel solution cemented sands. For the stencil specimens, full-depth plant stalk specimens should be created and tested in unconfined compression, and other stencil shapes should be created for comparison. Finally, this new process should be applied to a larger scale experimentation, namely 1-ft square.

### **6. REFERENCES**

Akimana. (2016). Geo-Chicago 2016 GSP 269 458. 2015, 458-466.

- Almajed, A., Lateef, M. A., Moghal, A. A. B., & Lemboyer, K. (2021). Geotechnical and geoenvironmental consultant. *Crystals*, *11*(370), 1–22.
- American Society for Testing and Materials International, A. I. (2000). Standard Practice for Classification of Soils for Engineering Purposes (Unified Soil Classification System)
   D2487-00. Anual Book of ASTM. Committee D18.07 on Identification and Classification of Soils, 04, 249–260. https://doi.org/10.1520/D2487-17E01.2
- Arpajirakul, S., Pungrasmi, W., & Likitlersuang, S. (2021). Efficiency of microbially-induced calcite precipitation in natural clays for ground improvement. *Construction and Building Materials*, 282, 122722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2021.122722
- ASTM. (2013). Standard Test Method for Unconfined Compressive Strength of Cohesive Soil 1. *ASTM International, January*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1520/D2166
- Bagriacik, B., Sani, Z. K., Uslu, F. M., Yigittekin, E. S., & Dincer, S. (2021). An experimental approach to microbial carbonate precipitation in improving the engineering properties of sandy soils. *Annals of Microbiology*, *71*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13213-021-01644-6
- Bagriacik, B., Sani, Z. K., Uslu, F. M., Yigittekin, E. S., Dincer, S., Sharma, M., Satyam, N., Reddy, K. R., Konstantinou, C., Biscontin, G., Jiang, N. J., Soga, K., Šovljanski, O., Pezo, L., Tomić, A., Ranitović, A., Cvetković, D., Markov, S., Chaparro, S., ... Chu, J. (2021). The role of bacterial urease activity on the uniformity of carbonate precipitation profiles of bio-treated coarse sand specimens. *Acta Geotechnica*, *16*(5), 108180. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)gt.1943-5606.0002621
- Cardoso, R., Pires, I., Duarte, S. O. D., & Monteiro, G. A. (2018). Effects of clay's chemical interactions on biocementation. *Applied Clay Science*, 156(January), 96–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clay.2018.01.035
- Chaparro, S., Rojas, H. A., Caicedo, G., Romanelli, G., Pineda, A., Luque, R., & Martínez, J. J. (2021). Whey as an alternative nutrient medium for growth of sporosarcina pasteurii and its effect on CaCO3 polymorphism and fly ash bioconsolidation. *Materials*, 14(10). https://doi.org/10.3390/ma14102470
- Chen, H. J., Huang, Y. H., Chen, C. C., Maity, J. P., & Chen, C. Y. (2019). Microbial Induced Calcium Carbonate Precipitation (MICP) Using Pig Urine as an Alternative to Industrial Urea. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, 10(10), 2887–2895. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-018-0324-8
- DeJong, J. T., Fritzges, M. B., & Nüsslein, K. (2006). Microbially Induced Cementation to Control Sand Response to Undrained Shear. *Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering*, 132(11), 1381–1392. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)1090-0241(2006)132:11(1381)

- Do, J., Montoya, B. M., & Gabr, M. A. (2020). Scour mitigation and erodibility improvement using microbially induced carbonate precipitation. *Geotechnical Testing Journal*, 44(5), 1467–1483. https://doi.org/10.1520/GTJ20190478
- Feng, K., & Montoya, B. M. (2015). Drained Shear Strength of MICP Sand at Varying Cementation Levels. 2242–2251. https://doi.org/10.1061/9780784479087.208
- Fujita, Y., Grant Ferris, F., Daniel Lawson, R., Colwell, F. S., & Smith, R. W. (2000). Calcium carbonate precipitation by ureolytic subsurface bacteria. *Geomicrobiology Journal*, 17(4), 305–318. https://doi.org/10.1080/782198884
- Ghasemi, P., Zamani, A., & Montoya, B. M. (2019). The Effect of Chemical Concentration on the Strength and Erodibility of MICP Treated Sands. *Geo-Congress 2019, Hagen 1999*, 143–151.
- Hushmand, B., Ph, D., & Asce, M. (2017). *Geotechnical Earthquake Engineering and Soil Dynamics V GSP 290 384*. 70(Córdova 2017), 384–402.
- Islam, M. T., Chittoori, B. C. S., & Burbank, M. (2020). Evaluating the Applicability of Biostimulated Calcium Carbonate Precipitation to Stabilize Clayey Soils. *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering*, 32(3), 04019369. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)mt.1943-5533.0003036
- Kannan, K., Bindu, J., & Vinod, P. (2020). Engineering behaviour of MICP treated marine clays. *Marine Georesources and Geotechnology*, 38(7), 761–769. https://doi.org/10.1080/1064119X.2020.1728791
- Katebi, H., Fahmi, A., Ouria, A., Babaeian Amini, A., & Kafil, H. S. (2021). Microbial Surface Treatment of Sand with Sporosarcina pasteurii to Improve the Wind Erosion Resistance in Urmia Lake. *Applied and Environmental Soil Science*, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/8893115
- Keykha, H. A., Asadi, A., & Zareian, M. (2017). Environmental Factors Affecting the Compressive Strength of Microbiologically Induced Calcite Precipitation-Treated Soil. *Geomicrobiology Journal*, 34(10), 889–894. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490451.2017.1291772
- Konstantinou, C., Biscontin, G., Jiang, N. J., & Soga, K. (2021). Application of microbially induced carbonate precipitation to form bio-cemented artificial sandstone. *Journal of Rock Mechanics and Geotechnical Engineering*, 13(3), 579–592. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrmge.2021.01.010
- Konstantinou, C., Wang, Y., Biscontin, G., & Soga, K. (2021). The role of bacterial urease activity on the uniformity of carbonate precipitation profiles of bio-treated coarse sand specimens. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-85712-6

Kumar, G., Chetri, J. K., & Reddy, K. R. (2020). Geo-Congress 2020 GSP 320 141. 141-149.

- Lai, H. J., Cui, M. J., Wu, S. F., Yang, Y., & Chu, J. (2021). Retarding effect of concentration of cementation solution on biocementation of soil. *Acta Geotechnica*, 16(5), 1457–1472. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11440-021-01149-1
- Li, M., Li, L., Ogbonnaya, U., Wen, K., Tian, A., & Amini, F. (2016). Influence of Fiber Addition on Mechanical Properties of MICP-Treated Sand. *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering*, 28(4), 04015166. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)mt.1943-5533.0001442
- Montoya, B. M., Do, J., & Gabr, M. A. (2021). Distribution and Properties of Microbially Induced Carbonate Precipitation in Underwater Sand Bed. *Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering*, 147(10), 04021098. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)gt.1943-5606.0002607
- Mortensen, B. M., & DeJong, J. T. (2011). Strength and Stiffness of MICP Treated Sand Subjected to Various Stress Paths. *Geo-Frontiers*, 4012–4020.
- Mortensen, B. M., Haber, M. J., Dejong, J. T., Caslake, L. F., & Nelson, D. C. (2011). Effects of environmental factors on microbial induced calcium carbonate precipitation. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 111(2), 338–349. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2011.05065.x
- Muhammed, A. S., Kassim, K. A., Ahmad, K., Zango, M. U., Chong, C. S., & Makinda, J. (2021). Influence of multiple treatment cycles on the strength and microstructure of biocemented sandy soil. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 18(11), 3427–3440. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13762-020-03073-5
- Mujah, D., Cheng, L., & Shahin, M. A. (2019). Microstructural and Geomechanical Study on Biocemented Sand for Optimization of MICP Process. *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering*, 31(4), 04019025. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)mt.1943-5533.0002660
- Mujah, D., Shahin, M. A., & Cheng, L. (2017). State-of-the-Art Review of Biocementation by Microbially Induced Calcite Precipitation (MICP) for Soil Stabilization. *Geomicrobiology Journal*, 34(6), 524–537. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490451.2016.1225866
- Nafisi, Ashkan. Mocelin, Douglas. Montoya, Brina. Underwood, S. (2019). Tensile strength of microbially induced carbonate precipitation treated sands. *Canadian Geotechnical Journal*.
- Nafisi, A., Khoubani, A., Montoya, B. M., & Evans, M. T. (2018). The effect of grain size and shape on mechanical behavior of MICP sand I: Experimental study. *ResearchGate*, *May* 2019, 1–9.
- Nafisi, A., Liu, Q., & Montoya, B. M. (2021). Effect of stress path on the shear response of biocemented sands. *Acta Geotechnica*, *16*(10), 3239–3251. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11440-021-01286-7
- Nafisi, A., Montoya, B. M., & Evans, T. M. (2020a). Shear Strength Envelopes of Biocemented Sands with Varying Particle Size and Cementation Level. *Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering*, 146(3), 04020002. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)gt.1943-5606.0002201

- Nafisi, A., Montoya, B. M., & Evans, T. M. (2020b). Shear Strength Envelopes of Biocemented Sands with Varying Particle Size and Cementation Level. *Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering*, 146(3), 04020002. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)gt.1943-5606.0002201
- Nething, C., Smirnova, M., Gröning, J. A. D., Haase, W., Stolz, A., & Sobek, W. (2020). A method for 3D printing bio-cemented spatial structures using sand and urease active calcium carbonate powder. *Materials and Design*, 195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matdes.2020.109032
- Omoregie, A. I., Ngu, L. H., Ong, D. E. L., & Nissom, P. M. (2019). Low-cost cultivation of Sporosarcina pasteurii strain in food-grade yeast extract medium for microbially induced carbonate precipitation (MICP) application. *Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology*, 17(December 2018), 247–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcab.2018.11.030
- Polito, C., Green, R. A., Dillon, E., & Sohn, C. (2013). Effect of load shape on relationship between dissipated energy and residual excess pore pressure generation in cyclic triaxial tests. *Canadian Geotechnical Journal*, 50(11), 1118–1128. https://doi.org/10.1139/cgj-2012-0379
- Qian, C., Ren, X., Rui, Y., & Wang, K. (2021). Characteristics of bio-CaCO3 from microbial bio-mineralization with different bacteria species. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 176(February), 108180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2021.108180
- Shanahan, C., & Montoya, B. M. (2014). Strengthening Coastal Sand Dunes Using Microbial-Induced Calcite Precipitation. 1683–1692. https://doi.org/10.1061/9780784413272.165
- Sharma, M., Satyam, N., & Reddy, K. R. (2021). Rock-like behavior of biocemented sand treated under non-sterile environment and various treatment conditions. *Journal of Rock Mechanics and Geotechnical Engineering*, 13(3), 705–716. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrmge.2020.11.006
- Stocks-Fischer, S., Galinat, J. K., & Bang, S. S. (1999). Microbiological precipitation of CaCO3. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 31(11), 1563–1571. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(99)00082-6
- Sun, X., Miao, L., & Chen, R. (2019). Effects of Different Clay's Percentages on Improvement of Sand-Clay Mixtures with Microbially Induced Calcite Precipitation. *Geomicrobiology Journal*, 36(9), 810–818. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490451.2019.1631912
- Swan, C. W. N. and C. W. (2011). Geo-Frontiers 2011 © ASCE 2011 1081. *Geo-Frontiers*, 1081–1090.
- Teng, F., Sie, Y. C., & Ouedraogo, C. (2021). Strength improvement in silty clay by microbialinduced calcite precipitation. *Bulletin of Engineering Geology and the Environment*, 80(8), 6359–6371. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10064-021-02308-0

Tiwari, N., Satyam, N., & Sharma, M. (2021). Micro-mechanical performance evaluation of

expansive soil biotreated with indigenous bacteria using MICP method. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-89687-2

- van Paassen, L. (2009). Biogrout: Ground Improvement by Microbially Induced Carbonate Precipitation. In *Technology*.
- van Paassen, L. (2011). Bio-mediated Ground Improvement: From laboratory Experiment to Pilot Applications. *Geo-Frontiers*, 4099–4108.
- Van Paassen, L. A., Harkes, M. P., Van Zwieten, G. A., Van Der Zon, W. H., Van Der Star, W. R. L., & Van Loosdrecht, M. C. M. (2009). Scale up of BioGrout: A biological ground reinforcement method. *Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Geotechnical Engineering: The Academia and Practice of Geotechnical Engineering*, 3, 2328–2333. https://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-60750-031-5-2328
- Wang, Z., Zhang, N., Cai, G., Jin, Y., Ding, N., & Shen, D. (2017). Review of ground improvement using microbial induced carbonate precipitation (MICP). *Marine Georesources and Geotechnology*, 35(8), 1135–1146. https://doi.org/10.1080/1064119X.2017.1297877
- Wei, R., Xiao, J. Z., Wu, S. F., Cai, H., & Wang, Z. W. (2021). Effectiveness of Microbially Induced Calcite Precipitation for Treating Expansive Soils. *Advances in Civil Engineering Materials*, 10(1), 20200182. https://doi.org/10.1520/acem20200182
- Whiffin, V. S., van Paassen, L. A., & Harkes, M. P. (2007). Microbial carbonate precipitation as a soil improvement technique. *Geomicrobiology Journal*, 24(5), 417–423. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490450701436505
- Wu, S., Li, B., & Chu, J. (2021). Stress-Dilatancy Behavior of MICP-Treated Sand. International Journal of Geomechanics, 21(3), 04020264. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)gm.1943-5622.0001923
- Xiao, J. Z., Wei, Y. Q., Cai, H., Wang, Z. W., Yang, T., Wang, Q. H., & Wu, S. F. (2020). Microbial-Induced Carbonate Precipitation for Strengthening Soft Clay. Advances in Materials Science and Engineering, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/8140724
- Xiao, Y., Wang, Y., Wang, S., Evans, T. M., Stuedlein, A. W., Chu, J., Zhao, C., Wu, H., & Liu, H. (2021). Homogeneity and mechanical behaviors of sands improved by a temperaturecontrolled one-phase MICP method. *Acta Geotechnica*, 16(5), 1417–1427. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11440-020-01122-4
- Xiao, Y., Zhao, C., Sun, Y., Wang, S., Wu, H., Chen, H., & Liu, H. (2021). Compression behavior of MICP-treated sand with various gradations. *Acta Geotechnica*, *16*(5), 1391–1400. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11440-020-01116-2
- Zamani, A., & Montoya, B. M. (2018). Undrained Monotonic Shear Response of MICP-Treated Silty Sands. *Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering*, 144(6), 04018029. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)gt.1943-5606.0001861

- Zamani, A, & Montoya, B. M. (2015). Undrained Behavior of Silty Soil Improved with Microbial Induced Cementation. 6th International Conference on Earthquake Geotechnical Engineering 1-4, November, 1–4. https://secure.tcc.co.nz/ei/images/ICEGE15 Papers/Montoya 171.00\_.pdf
- Zamani, Atefeh, Montoya, B. M., & Gabr, M. A. (2019). Investigating challenges of in situ delivery of microbial-induced calcium carbonate precipitation (MICP) in fine-grain sands and silty sand. *Canadian Geotechnical Journal*, 56(12), 1889–1900. https://doi.org/10.1139/cgj-2018-0551
- Zhao, Q., Li, L., Li, C., Li, M., Amini, F., & Zhang, H. (2014). Factors Affecting Improvement of Engineering Properties of MICP-Treated Soil Catalyzed by Bacteria and Urease. *Journal* of Materials in Civil Engineering, 26(12), 04014094. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)mt.1943-5533.0001013

## 7. APPENDIX

![](_page_64_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 7.1 Soil phase diagram for 100% 20-30 Ottawa sand.

![](_page_64_Figure_3.jpeg)

Figure 7.2 Soil phase diagram for 100% Red Art clay.

	V <sub>V</sub> = 40.48	V <sub>A</sub> =	AIR	W <sub>A</sub> =0	
	cm <sup>3</sup>	V <sub>W</sub> =0	WATER	W <sub>W</sub> =0	
V <sub>T</sub> = 98.32 cm <sup>3</sup>	V <sub>s</sub> = 57.8 cm <sup>3</sup>	3	SOLID (SAND)	W <sub>s</sub> = W <sub>T</sub>	W <sub>T</sub> = 153.34 g

_						
	V <sub>V</sub> = 13.50	V <sub>A</sub> =	AIR	W <sub>A</sub> =0		
		cm°	V <sub>W</sub> =0	WATER	W <sub>W</sub> =0	
V <sub>T</sub> = 32.77	cm <sup>3</sup>	V <sub>S</sub> = 19.28 cm <sup>3</sup>	8	SOLID (CLAY)	W <sub>S</sub> = W <sub>T</sub>	W <sub>T</sub> = 53.42 g

Figure 7.3 Soil phase diagrams for 75% Ottawa sand and 25% Red Art clay by volume.

	V <sub>V</sub> = 26.99	V <sub>A</sub> =	AIR	W <sub>A</sub> =0	
	cm³	V <sub>W</sub> =0	WATER	W <sub>W</sub> =0	
V <sub>T</sub> = 65.55 cm <sup>3</sup>	V <sub>S</sub> = 38.5 cm <sup>3</sup>	6	SOLID (SAND)	W <sub>s</sub> = W <sub>T</sub>	W <sub>T</sub> = 102.2 g

![](_page_66_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 7.4 Soil phase diagrams for 50% Ottawa sand and 50% Red Art clay by volume.

V <sub>T</sub> = 32.77 cm <sup>3</sup>	V <sub>V</sub> = 40.48 cm <sup>3</sup>	V <sub>A</sub> =	AIR	W <sub>A</sub> =0	
		V <sub>W</sub> =0	WATER	W <sub>W</sub> =0	
	V <sub>s</sub> = 57.84 cm <sup>3</sup>		SOLID (SAND)	W <sub>S</sub> = W <sub>T</sub>	W <sub>T</sub> = 51.11 g

V <sub>T</sub> = 98.32 cm <sup>3</sup>	V <sub>V</sub> = 13.50 cm <sup>3</sup>	V <sub>A</sub> =	AIR	W <sub>A</sub> =0	
		V <sub>W</sub> =0	WATER	W <sub>W</sub> =0	
	V <sub>S</sub> = 19.28 cm <sup>3</sup>		SOLID (CLAY)	W <sub>s</sub> = W <sub>T</sub>	W <sub>T</sub> = 160.28 g

Figure 7.5 Soil phase diagrams for 25% Ottawa sand and 75% Red Art clay by volume.